

# LUND UNIVERSITY

#### Affinity Two-Phase Partitioning of Liposomes and Membranes

Barinaga-Rementeria Ramírez, Irene

2003

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Barinaga-Rementeria Ramírez, I. (2003). *Affinity Two-Phase Partitioning of Liposomes and Membranes*. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Biochemistry and Structural Biology]. Department of Biochemistry, Lund University.

Total number of authors: 1

#### General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

#### LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	4
ABBREVIATIONS	5
1. INTRODUCTION	6
1.1. Past and present techniques for membrane purification	10
1.1.1. Centrifugation	
1.1.1.1. Differential centrifugation	10
1.1.1.2. Isopycnic centrifugation (density gradient centrifugation)	11
1.1.2. Immunoprecipitation	13
1.1.3. Two-phase partitioning	14
1.1.3.1. Types of two-phase systems	16
1.1.3.2. Factors affecting the partitioning of material	18
1.1.3.3. Two-phase partitioning of membraneous material	19
1.1.4. Other techniques	21
1.2. Affinity two-phase partitioning	22
1.2.1. Affinity ligands used in affinity two-phase partitioning	
1.2.2. Factors affecting affinity partitioning	
1.2 When membranes?	20
1.3. Why membranes?	
<ul><li>1.3.1. History of membranes</li><li>1.3.2. Structure of membranes</li></ul>	
1.3.2.1. Plasma membrane microdomains: rafts and caveolae	
1.3.3. Liposomes as model membranes	
2. PRESENT INVESTIGATIONS	35
2.1. Affinity two-phase partitioning of membraneous material	
2.1.1. Model membranes: biotinylated liposomes (papers I and II)	
2.1.2. Biological membranes: biotinylated microsomes (paper II)	
2.1.3. Membrane microdomains: caveolae (paper III)	
<b>2.2. Miniaturisation of affinity partitioning in levitated drops</b> (paper IV)	48
3. CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES	51
4. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	54
5. REFERENCES	56

## List of publications

I. Barinaga-Rementeria Ramírez, I., L. Ekblad, and B. Jergil, *Affinity partitioning of biotinylated mixed liposomes: effect of charge on biotin*-*NeutrAvidin interaction.* J. Chromatogr. B: Biomedical Sciences and Applications, (**2000**) 743, p: 389-396<sup>(\*)</sup>.

II. Barinaga-Rementeria Ramírez, I., S. Mebrahtu, and B. Jergil, *Affinity* partitioning for membrane purification exploiting the biotin-NeutrAvidin interaction. Model study of mixed liposomes and membranes. J. Chromatogr. A (**2002**) 971, p. 117-127<sup>(\*)</sup>.

III. Barinaga-Rementeria Ramírez, I., P. Abedinpour, and B. Jergil. *Purification of caveolae by affinity two-phase partitioning using biotinylated antibodies and NeutrAvidin-dextran.* **Submitted**.

IV. Santesson, S., I. Barinaga-Rementeria Ramírez, P. Viberg, B. Jergil, and S. Nilsson. *Affinity two-phase partitioning in acoustically levitated drops.* **Submitted**.

<sup>(\*)</sup> Paper I and II are reprinted with permission from Elsevier.

# Abbreviations

CCD	Counter current distribution
D.L.	Debye Length
EM	Electron microscopy
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
GPI	Glycosylphosphatidylinositol
LC	Liquid chromatography
MS	Mass spectrometry
MW	Molecular weight
PC	Phosphatidylcholine
PE	Phosphatidylethanolamine
PG	Phosphatidylglycerol
PI	Phosphatidylinositol
PS	Phosphatidylserine
PEG	Poly (ethylene glycol)
Tween 20	Polyoxyethylene-sorbitan monolaurate
SUV	Small unilamellar vesicles
WGA	Wheat germ agglutinin

Advances in scientific research have always been closely tied to the invention and improvement of techniques since the beginning of the history of science. What we observe is limited by the detection system we use, whether it is simply our own eyes or very complex microscopes. Furthermore, by their very nature, all mixtures, from galaxies consisting of planets, stars, comets etc, soils with their many minerals and microorganisms to cells with thousands of proteins and lipids, are difficult to study and their individual components need to be isolated to determine their characteristics and function within the mixture. Hence, separation of such components is an essential and fundamental requirement. The objects we study depend strongly on the way we separate them from others, e.g. within biochemistry they depend on the protocols and/or methods of purification employed. Therefore, higher resolution techniques and purification techniques yielding products of higher purity are required to increase the understanding of the subject of study. Thus, development of scientific research goes hand in hand with progress in technology.

In 1665, Hooke described cells for the first time thanks to the invention of the light microscope. Through the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries there were some additional morphological descriptions of the cell but no further progress in biological research was achieved due to imperfections in the lenses of microscopes. Meanwhile, advances in chemical and physical techniques allowed Wöhler to synthesize organic molecules from inorganic precursors. This opened a new field of study: cell chemistry and physiology.

In 1923, Warburg developed the tissue slice-manometric technique. This technique was further utilized by his young assistant, Krebs, who systematically examined all the amino acids, and less than a decade later the ornithine cycle for mammalian urea formation was described [1]. Since then

different chemical mechanisms and cycles, forming the core of enzymology, have been discovered.

By the end of the nineteenth century many organic substances found in plants and animals had been isolated, identified and synthesized. In the 1930's integration of cell biology, genetics, physiology and biochemistry started, at the same time as investigations moved from morphology to biochemical and molecular studies. Once again this was partly a consequence of technique development. In 1930-45 Claude developed a technique for isolating and purifying cell parts by centrifugation [2,3]. A few years later Claude's fractionation protocol was improved by the use of the Potter-Elvehjem homogeniser in the homogenisation step [4] and the use of 0.25 M sucrose as iso-osmotic medium [5]. Another further improvement was the introduction of preparative ultracentrifuges in the early 1950's obtaining centrifugal forces of over 150 000 g and with them the use of gradient centrifugations [6]. Since then many proteins and cell organelles have been fractionated, isolated and analysed using centrifugation procedures.

Some years later, in the late 1960s, Giddings introduced a new technique, field-flow electrophoresis [7], to allow further separation of vesicles that could not otherwise be separated by means of centrifugation. Nevertheless, the use of this technique is still limited.

The use of labelled isotopes started during the course of World War II, and with their biochemical use and the development of chromatographic techniques a whole new world of discovery opened up to the biochemist. By about mid-century, most of the known vitamins (pantothenic acid, biotin among others) had been discovered and their modes of action made clear. At the same time, important hormones such as secretin, insulin and cortisone were isolated and their structures elucidated [1].

Another big step forward in biosciences came with the application of the electron microscope to biological materials, starting in the 1940's and allowing

the visualization of membranes. Yet another example illustrating that technique and progress in bioresearch goes hand in hand is the application of X-ray diffraction pattern analysis, using which, in 1953, Watson and Crick determined the structure of DNA. It was not until 1959 that the first X-ray structure of a protein was elucidated, that of sperm whale myoglobin [8]. In the years since then several thousand proteins have been purified and characterised and the pace of this endeavour is still accelerating. Determination of protein X-ray structures revolutionised the biochemical thinking and reshaped our understanding of the chemistry of life. From the DNA structure came the deduction of the genetic code, which was a major advance in the biochemistry of the 20<sup>th</sup> century. The complete sequencing of the genome revolutionized the manner in which biological research was being conducted [9]. This was partly permitted by advances in molecular biology techniques, DNA sequencing and cloning, and recombinant DNA technology. Fifty years ago, one or a few gene products were possible to study at a time, whereas now the use of microarrays has made possible the study of many gene products at a time, i.e. global analysis of cellular processes.

More recently, attention has turned from genomics to proteomics, the study of proteins and their activities. Traditionally, protein abundance has been examined using two-dimensional gel electrophoresis (2D-GE) [10]; in one case over 10000 proteins resolved in a single gel [11]. Still, 2D-GE has two intrinsic problems: the identity of expressed proteins remains unknown and the resolution is limited. Coupling 2D-GE to a newly introduced powerful technique, mass spectrometry (MS), has allowed the determination of molecular mass and identification of thousands of proteins.

The overall performance of the analysis strongly depends on the performance of the separation tool. Different separation techniques are now coupled to MS; the most well known combination to date is liquid chromatography (LC)/MS. Although LC/MS has been successfully applied in the identification of many proteins, there are still some difficulties with the detection of low-abundance proteins. The latest developments in chemistry are providing the market with

new isotope-coded affinity tags or with solid-phase isotope tags which permit the identification of such low-abundance proteins [12,13]. One problem, yet at the same time an exciting goal of proteomic research, is the purification and identification of membrane proteins. The number of membrane proteins identified so far is relatively low, although it is estimated that transmembrane peripheral proteins (not including membrane proteins) represent approximately 30% of the total proteins of a cell [14]. The lower the initial concentration of a substance, the more effort is required to isolate it in pure form. Many membrane proteins have a very low abundance, thus it is difficult to purify them with available techniques. Therefore, novel procedures to purify membrane fractions, specifically and avoiding cross-contamination, are of great interest.

In this thesis affinity two-phase partitioning in aqueous polymer two-phase systems will be presented as a technique for the purification of membranes. The aqueous two-phase systems used are composed of poly (ethylene glycol) (PEG) and dextran, in aqueous solution. The high water content of these systems, typically 80-95% in each phase, provides a mild environment for the purification of membranes. This technique is potentially useful for the rapid, high-yield purification of membranes, and domains and microregions of membranes, as well as of other subcellular material. The technique will be particularly useful for the purification of material that has so far been difficult or impossible to obtain in sufficient purity and yield for structural and functional examination. Specificity is introduced by an affinity ligand coupled to a phase polymer. The affinity ligand chosen in this work was NeutrAvidin which has been coupled to dextran. The technique could become one of more general use exploiting the avidin-biotin interaction.

An important part of biochemical investigations deals with the difficult task of isolating the subject material in sufficient purity and quantity to be properly characterised. There are few biochemical techniques developed for the isolation of cells, organelles and membranes compared to the large number available for the purification of soluble proteins. This chapter presents an overview of the most commonly used techniques for the isolation and purification of membraneous particles.

## 1.1.1. Centrifugation

Centrifugation is the most widely used technique for membrane purification [15-19]. Particles are separated by exploiting differences in size, shape and density (differential centrifugation) or in density (isopycnic centrifugation).

## 1.1.1.1. Differential centrifugation

Particles that differ in density, shape or size can be separated because they sediment at different rates in a centrifugal field. The rate of sedimentation of the major cell components decreases according to: whole cells > nuclei > chloroplasts > mitochondria > lysosomes > microsomes > ribosomes [20].

Differential centrifugation is the most commonly used method for the separation of a cell homogenate into different fractions. In differential centrifugation the cell lysate is centrifuged at a speed that sediments only cell components larger and denser than the desired organelle followed by another centrifugation at a higher speed that pellets the organelle of interest. The technique has been used for the fractionation of cell components from many tissues such as liver [21,22], kidney [23], cardiac [24] and skeletal [25]

muscle, lymphoid tissues [26] and brain [27]. Since the 1950's the use of differential centrifugation has greatly increased; the centrifuge has become a basic piece of equipment in biological/biochemical laboratories. The main advantages of the technique are: it is a rapid and simple technique; it can handle large homogenate volumes; the subcellular organelles are not stressed osmotically by exposure to hypertonic gradient media. The main disadvantage is that the separation depends only upon the sedimentation rate of the particles, leading to the isolation of heterogeneous material [28]. As particles move down to the bottom of the tube during centrifugation, the largest ones form a pellet. However, since the material was suspended homogeneously at the beginning of the centrifugation, particles of various sizes that were near the bottom will also sediment and subsequently contaminate the pellet.

#### 1.1.1.2. Isopycnic centrifugation (density gradient centrifugation)

Isopycnic centrifugation separates particles mainly due to differences in their buoyant density. This separation is done in a density gradient through which the particles move under the effect of the centrifugal field until their density is the same as that of the surrounding medium. At this point of isodensity, no further sedimentation occurs regardless of how long the centrifugation proceeds.

After homogenisation, fragments of subcellular organelles such as mitochondria, lysosomes and peroxisomes, or fragments of them, do not separate well by differential centrifugation [28], presumably due to a combination of their sizes and densities. Nevertheless, it is possible to separate them based on their different densities by isopycnic centrifugation [29].

An ideal density-gradient medium should be inert and non-toxic to biological material, soluble in water, and have low viscosity and osmotic pressure.

Furthermore, the medium should have known physico-chemical properties to allow determination of the precise concentration of the gradient, it should be easy to separate from purified material and should not interfere with monitoring fractionated material within the gradient [28].

Sucrose is the most common density-gradient medium mainly due to its costeffectiveness. Serious drawbacks of sucrose are its high viscosity and hypertonicity, which causes dehydration, lysis and damage to or disruption of membranes [28,30]. Some membrane organelles are permeable to sucrose, hence altering their density [31]. Other gradient media have been developed which do not readily penetrate membranes, such as Ficoll, Metrizamide, Nycodenz, Percoll, sorbitol and mannitol. Although Ficoll solutions are osmotically inert below 20% (w/v), their osmolarity increases sharply at higher concentrations. Metrizamide and Nycodenz absorb in the u.v. region due to their tri-iodinated benzene ring, possibly interfering with enzyme assay detection systems.

One of the major problems encountered in centrifugation derives from intrinsic characteristics of the membranes to be separated, i.e., their sedimentation rates and densities. The heterogeneity of each membrane population results in an overlap in their density (Fig. 1). In practice, separations are often based on a combination of differential and isopycnic centrifugations. As nuclei have a high sedimentation rate, they can be pelleted by differential centrifugation, leaving the rest of the organelles in the supernatant. However, many organelles differ only slightly in size and density and they are not readily separated by centrifugation alone. Repeated washing and pelleting and/or density gradient steps are usually necessary to obtain high-purity fractions. However, such procedures lead to a considerable loss of material and consequently to lower yields. When the subject of purification is lowabundance membranes the number of purification steps required will be greater than for high-abundance ones to obtain fractions of similar purity. Thus, there may be problems in obtaining low-abundance membranes of sufficiently high purity and in reasonable quantities for further studies. In

addition, labile components may be damaged by repeated re-suspension and re-centrifugation. In light of this, centrifugations are usually used for the initial processing of heterogeneous mixtures prior to further purification steps. Although isopycnic centrifugation improves the fractionation of membranes a disadvantage of this technique, especially in today's society where we live against the clock, is that it is rather time-consuming.



**Figure 1. Sedimentation and density values for some organelles.** Their overlapping profiles preclude their ready separation by means of centrifugation. Adapted from [32].

## 1.1.2. Immunoprecipitation

In immunoprecipitation, also called affinity adsorption, separation is based on a biospecific interaction between a membrane and a solid phase. The solid phase contains a bound ligand with affinity for specific membrane components. The solid phase can be Sepharose [33], polyacrylamide [34], cellulose [35] or magnetic beads [36]. There are two strategies for coupling the ligand to the support, either directly or via a sandwich procedure. In the first strategy the ligand, for instance an antibody, is bound covalently directly to the support. In the second strategy the ligand is linked to the support by a ligand-binding agent, which in the above example could be a secondary antibody or protein A.

Many different kinds of cells have been prepared by immunoprecipitation, for instance endothelial [37], mast [38] or B [39] cells. The number of membranes/organelles prepared by this technique is rather few and includes cholinergic synaptosomes [40] and microsomes [41]. The availability of more specific antibodies, including monoclonals, has allowed the purification of quantitatively minor membrane populations, such as vesicles derived from microdomains of the plasma membrane [36].

One of the major drawbacks of immunoprecipitation is that non-specific adsorption of contaminating membranes may occur, forming an aggregate of mixed membranes on the bead surface. In the case of immunoisolation of proteins this problem might be partially overcome by adding a non-ionic detergent (for instance, 0.1% Tween 20) both in the sample and in the washing buffer after isolation of the protein [42]. In addition to possible mechanical damage caused by such washing steps, elution of membranes from the solid support without damage is of great concern.

### 1.1.3. Two-phase partitioning

In 1896 Beijrinck noticed that when mixing aqueous solutions of gelatine and agar or starch two phases were formed [43]. However, it was not until the mid-1950s that Albertsson introduced aqueous two-phase systems as a separation tool in the study of biological material [44-46]. He found that two different polymers, when dissolved in water above a certain concentration, are immiscible and thus form two phases. A characteristic of such two-phase systems is that the main component (80-95%) of both phases is water. In addition to the low interfacial tension compared to organic/aqueous two-phase systems, the protective properties of the polymers against denaturation together with the high water content provide a mild environment for biological material.

The phases of a two-phase system are mixtures of both of the polymers and water, each phase being enriched in one of the polymers. For instance, in a PEG/dextran two-phase system each phase contains both PEG and dextran, the top phase being enriched in PEG and the bottom phase in dextran. The composition of two-phase systems is usually characterised by phase diagrams (Fig. 2) where the concentrations of the polymers are plotted against each other, usually expressed in % (w/w). A mixture of the polymers corresponding to a point "P" in the diagram situated above the binodial curve will separate into two phases. Conversely, a polymer mixture of concentration "M" situated below the binodial will be homogeneous forming only one phase.



Figure 2. Schematic representation of a two-phase diagram. Polymer mixtures represented by points like "P" above the binodial curve yield two phases, while those represented by points like M below the binodial give only one phase.

From the phase diagram additional information may be obtained, such as the polymer concentration of each phase and the volume ratio of the phases. The concentration of each phase of a two-phase system with concentration P is given by the node points (A & B in Fig. 2), which are the cross-points of the tie line and the binodial curve. The volume ratio of the phases is described by [46]:

$$\frac{V_t}{V_b} = \frac{d_b}{d_t} \times \frac{BP}{AP}$$

where  $V_t$  and  $V_b$  are the volumes and  $d_t$  and  $d_b$  are the densities of the top and bottom phases respectively, BP is the distance from the node B to point P and AP from A to P. The phase diagram varies with the type of polymers used and with other system additives, such as salts, with temperature, etc. The distribution or partitioning of material between the phases of a two-phase system is usually expressed as the partitioning coefficient, K, defined as:

$$K = \frac{C^{TOP}}{C^{BOT}}$$

where  $C^{TOP}$  and  $C^{BOT}$  are the concentrations of the partitioned material in top and bottom phases, respectively. In preparative applications the distribution of the material between the phases is sometimes expressed in percentage found in one of the phases, in contrast to analytical applications where the partitioning coefficient, K, predominates.

#### 1.1.3.1. Types of two-phase systems

The most commonly used polymer-polymer two-phase system is composed of PEG and dextran, PEG being the main component of the top phase and dextran of the bottom phase. Their molecular structures are depicted in Fig. 3. Dextran is commercially available in a range of molecular weight fractions from 10000 to 2000000. These fractions are usually polydisperse. For instance, the T500 fraction from Pharmacia, which is the most used fraction in two-phase partitioning, has a weight-average molecular weight (MW) of approximately 450000 to 500000. PEG is available from many suppliers and in a wide range of MWs. These include PEG 3350, PEG 8000 and PEG20000 (having corresponding MWs) often used in two-phase partitioning [47].



Figure 3. Molecular structures of the polymers PEG and dextran. PEG is an unbranched polymer of ethylene oxide units and dextran of glucose units linked by  $\alpha$ -1, 6 bonds with some branches of  $\alpha$ -1, 3 linkages.

Occasionally dextran and PEG have been substituted: some starch derivatives have replaced dextran [48,49] and PEG has been replaced by random copolymers of ethylene oxide (EO) and propylene oxide (PO), EOPO copolymers. The partitioning of proteins in EOPO/starch and in PEG/dextran systems is very similar [50]. Other alternatives for replacement of dextran are maltodextrins and pullulans [51,52]. The introduction of EOPO copolymers has led to a new feature in two-phase partitioning [50,53], i.e., the recovery of these polymers from solution by thermoseparation after phase extraction. Usually thermoseparation occurs in the temperature range of 32-50 °C, this being too high to be ideally employed in the purification of membraneous material for which low temperatures are usually preferred.

Another kind is the polymer/salt two-phase system. This is formed when the concentration of salt is increased sufficiently in the presence of a polymer solution. The most common two-phase system of this type is composed of PEG and sodium or potassium phosphate, although other salts have also been used [54,55]. The salt-rich bottom phase contains approximately 10-15% (w/w) salt. Some advantages are that 1) the hydrophobicity difference between the two phases is greater than in two-polymer systems thereby

resulting in a more extreme partitioning, 2) they are easier to use than polymer/polymer systems, 3) phase separation is more rapid, 4) the phase components are less expensive. For all the above mentioned reasons, these types of systems are the most commonly used for industrial protein purification applications [56-58]. The high contents of salts make such polymer/salt systems unsuitable for membrane purification, as membrane structure will be affected by the high salt concentrations.

A third type of system currently available is made up of detergents. Detergents may also form two-phase systems when mixed with polymers or alone above their cloud point temperature. One widely used detergent is Triton X-114 [59]. Although these types of systems have been extensively used for the extraction of membrane proteins [60,61], it is obvious that they are definitely not appropriate for the purification of membraneous structures.

In the area of membrane and cell research conventional two-phase systems consisting of dextran/PEG-type polymers seem to be the most adequate at the moment.

#### 1.1.3.2. Factors affecting the partitioning of material

Most hydrophilic polymer pairs are incompatible in aqueous solutions. Such polymers yield two phases in equilibrium with each other, each phase containing predominantly water and one of the polymers. The phase separation is attributed to the high molecular weight of the polymers combined with interactions between the different polymers and salts in the system [46]. The driving force for the demixing process is the enthalpy associated with the interactions of the components, which is opposed by the entropy associated with the segregation of the components during phase separation. A detailed thermodynamic description of the phase separation process is complicated and beyond the scope of this thesis. The mechanisms through which salts influence phase separation are still poorly understood. The distribution of particulate material or molecules in solution between the phases of the two-phase system can be manipulated by controlling the salts in the system. Negatively charged material is pushed up into the PEG rich-phase by cations in the order  $Cs^+ \approx K^+ < Na^+ < Li^+$  and by anions in the order  $Cl^- \approx H_2PO_4^{--} < HPO_4^{2-} \approx SO_4^{2-} \approx citrate$ . Therefore, to get a maximal distribution of negatively charged membranes into the top phase one should use for instance  $Li_2SO_4$ , or, to push them into the bottom phase, KCI. Another factor that alters the phase behaviour is the MW of the polymers used and their concentration. A lower MW of the polymer results in a greater tendency for particles to partition into that phase [46].

Furthermore, the distribution of a specific particle between the phases of twophase systems can be manipulated by using affinity ligands. These bind to the specific target material pulling it into one phase, leaving the rest of the material in the other phase. This is the basis of affinity two-phase partitioning and will be discussed later in this thesis (see section 1.2).

#### 1.1.3.3. Two-phase partitioning of membraneous material

Membranes, due to their different surface properties, partition differently between the phases of two-phase systems. In the case of PEG/dextran systems the preference for the upper phase increases in the following order: mitochondria, ER, Golgi membranes and plasma membranes [62,63]. When the partitioning behaviour of membranes is relatively similar, they can be separated by multiple-step extraction, for instance using a CCD apparatus. Different kinds of membrane vesicles have been subfractionated by CCD, such as ER vesicles from rat pituitary homogenates [64], synaptosomal membranes [65], and ER and vacuolar membranes from cauliflower [66]. In some cases different regions of a specific membrane have been separated, such as from rat liver plasma membrane [63] or the fractionation of thylakoid membranes from tobacco into "end membrane" and "stroma lamellae"

membrane [67]. In addition to membrane vesicles, whole cells have also been partitioned and several populations separated by this technique. Some examples include lymphocytes [68], reticulocytes [69], erythrocytes [70], and amoebae [71].

In some cases, cells and membranes have been successfully separated by a batch two-phase partitioning procedure. However, only in the case of material from plant tissues has this procedure become the isolation method of choice. Some examples include the isolation of chloroplast membranes from spinach [72-74] and of plasma membranes from spinach [75], barley [76-79], wheat [80,81], tobacco [82-86], carrot [87], rice [88-90], maize [91,92], pea [93-95], tomato [96-98], soybean [99], cauliflower [100], mung bean [101], and red beet [102,103]. One interesting observation is that plasma membrane vesicles can be turned inside-out (cytoplasmic side-out) by freezing and thawing, and also that two-phase partitioning is sensitive enough to separate the sealed inside out and right-side out vesicles [104].

Other types of material than plant material have also been partitioned: bacterial, fungal and animal cells and subcellular membranes. However, the number of studies that use two-phase partitioning and these types of cells/membranes is not as vast as in the case of membranes derived from plant sources, indicating that two-phase partitioning is still not a technique of choice for the separation of membranes from these sources. Combinations of different centrifugation techniques are still the most common method for the fractionation of membranes derived from animal tissues, although centrifugation combined with immunoprecipitation is increasing rapidly. Some reasons why two-phase partitioning is not widely used for the isolation of animal membranes could be the ease of use of standardised centrifugation protocols, the often low resolution of two-phase partitioning for these types of membranes. and the introduction of specificity by antibodies in immunoprecipitation.

The behaviour of membranes in two-phase systems is supposed to depend on surface properties that are still rather poorly defined, the net surface

charge of membranes might be one of these. Due to the lack of knowledge of how such surface properties affect partitioning, there are difficulties predicting the behaviour of membranes in two-phase systems, particularly those derived from animal tissues. This could be another reason why two-phase partitioning is not a widespread technique for membrane purification. So far, most partitioning protocols are based on empirical findings. A systematic examination of separation variables, intrinsic characteristics of membranes that affect their behaviour in two-phase systems, as well as introduction of thermodynamic models capable of accurately predicting phase equilibrium and membrane partitioning coefficients would stimulate a wider use of the method.

### 1.1.4. Other techniques

In sedimentation field flow fractionation the separation occurs by differential retention of components in a stream of liquid flowing through a thin channel that encircles the centrifuge axis like a belt. The separated components are eluted one at a time through a detector [105]. Their separation depends on differences in mass, volume, or in density between the particle and the carrier liquid, with the separation modulated by the centrifugal field used. Viruses [106] as well as abnormal erythrocytes have been fractionated from normal erythrocytes using this methodology [107].

Free-flow electrophoresis is also based on the separation of material in a flow, but in contrast to the technique described above, an electrical field is applied causing the material to separate depending on surface charge. Subfractions of endosomes [108] and melanosomes [109] are examples of membranes isolated by this technique.

The use of these methodologies has been limited, however, perhaps due to the special equipment required and/or because the techniques are difficult to master.

## **1.2.** Affinity two-phase partitioning

Conventional two-phase systems often have a comparatively low selectivity for biological membranes. As a consequence, two-phase partitioning usually results in a rather low degree of purification in batch procedures unless the extraction steps are repeated several times. One way to increase the selectivity is to introduce affinity ligands. This process is generally known as affinity two-phase partitioning.



**Figure 4. Affinity two-phase partitioning**. The target material is selectively isolated from a mixture by interactions with an affinity ligand coupled to the bottom phase polymer.

The general idea of affinity two-phase partitioning is to partition the bulk of material (proteins or membranes) into one of the phases, and then to redistribute the material of interest (a specific protein or membrane) into the other phase by interactions with an affinity ligand coupled to the phase

polymer. The principle of affinity partitioning with an affinity ligand coupled to the bottom phase polymer is illustrated in Figure 4.

There has been a steady increase in the number of publications in the area of two-phase partitioning in contrast to affinity two-phase partitioning (Fig. 5). A reason for this might be that additional experimental steps are involved in affinity two-phase partitioning. The introduction of affinity ligands involves covalent coupling to one of the phase-forming polymers. Although protocols are available for attaching ligands to PEG or dextran, the coupling of each specific ligand may require a certain degree of modification of the procedure. In addition to this, the use of organic synthetic chemistry is often unfamiliar within the biological research community. Furthermore, the use of quite expensive ligands, to ensure a high specificity, in combination with the lack of standardised affinity partitioning protocols might be influential factors as well.



**Figure 5. Number of publications in Pubmed.** Concerning two-phase partitioning (■) and affinity two-phase partitioning (○).

Chromatography is another separation technique from which affinity chromatography has evolved by the introduction of affinity ligands coupled to the chromatographic resins. In comparison with affinity two-phase partitioning,

#### 1.2. Affinity two-phase partitioning

affinity chromatography is widely used nowadays. One reason why affinity chromatography has such a great acceptance among researchers could be the fact that many affinity resins are commercially available. There is also much more theoretical and practical knowledge of the chromatographic process in terms of ligand density, capacity, number of plates etc. Although affinity chromatography has been successful for the purification of proteins, the technique is not readily applicable for membrane purification. For instance, membranes often adsorb tightly to the resin and harsh conditions may be required for elution, which would probably damage the membranes. As an alternative affinity two-phase partitioning, avoiding solid supports, should be advantageous for the purification of biological membranes.

#### 1.2.1. Affinity ligands used in affinity two-phase partitioning

In PEG/dextran affinity two-phase systems, PEG has been the most common choice of polymer as ligand carrier. In principle all phase-forming polymers are capable of carrying covalently bound affinity ligands. Some reasons as to why PEG has been the polymer of choice are that this polymer is available in different sizes, its low cost and because it appears easier to find conditions to steer proteins into the dextran phase [110]. Also, a number of methods for attachment of ligands to PEG molecules have been developed [111]. Consequently, there are abundant examples in which ligands coupled to PEG have been applied to the purification of proteins and also in some cases cells, by affinity two-phase partitioning. Examples of different types of ligands that have been used include dyes for protein partitioning [112-116] and peptides and proteins for partitioning of antibiotics or cells [117,118]. Advantages of using dyes are low cost, ease of coupling and high chemical and biological stability, while a disadvantage is that dyes are not particularly specific, often interacting not only with one protein but with several ones within the same class, for instance nucleotide-dependent enzymes [119]. Other ligands include metals used in the partitioning of both enzymes [120,121] and cells

[122-124]. An additional approach includes PEG-linked antibodies for affinity partitioning of cells [125-129].

Some protocols for coupling ligands to dextran are also available [130-132], but dextran-coupled ligands have not been applied as often as PEG derivatives in aqueous two-phase systems. Some examples include dyes [132,133] and ATP [130] used in the partitioning of enzymes. As to membraneous structures, plasma membranes from different animal tissues have been purified using the lectin wheat germ agglutinin (WGA) coupled to dextran [134,135]. WGA binds to polysaccharides containing sialic acid and N-acetylglucosamine mainly exposed on the outer surface of plasma membranes. Thus, when different membrane fragments are added into a PEG/dextran two-phase system, the plasma membrane fragments are pulled into the dextran-rich bottom phase by interaction of their surface carbohydrates with WGA-dextran, leaving other kinds of membrane fragments in the PEG-rich top phase. This approach is approximately 10 times faster than conventional centrifugal protocols, and results in at least a similar degree of purification and yield [135].

## 1.2.2. Factors affecting affinity partitioning

The partitioning depends on several factors, including the choice of ligandcarrying polymer, its MW and the concentrations of the phase polymers. The partitioning behaviour of a particle complexed to a ligand-polymer conjugate is determined to a large extent by the partitioning of the conjugate itself [136]. One way of increasing the partitioning of a particle-ligand-polymer complex would therefore be to increase the partitioning of the ligand-polymer conjugate. Usually, this conjugate partitions similarly to the phase polymer. As polymers partition more extremely in systems with longer tie lines [46], working with systems made up of higher polymer concentrations would presumably force the ligand-polymer conjugate more extremely into one

#### 1.2. Affinity two-phase partitioning

phase. Therefore, working with systems with longer tie lines would also increase the partitioning of the particle-ligand-polymer complex. The problem is that the further from the binodial curve, the more membranes tend to partition in the interface, a problem not encountered with proteins as these do not tend to collect at the interface. Thus, conditions yielding short tie-lines are desirable when working with membranes or cells, in comparison with affinity partitioning of proteins, in order to maintain the material in one of the phases and avoiding the interface.

As the ligand-polymer conjugate partitions similarly to the phase polymer itself, the phase polymer chosen to carry the ligand would ideally distribute with the smallest fraction possible in the other phase. In the case of the PEG/dextran system, the fraction of dextran in the top phase is usually much smaller than the fraction of PEG present in the bottom phase [46]. Therefore, it would appear to be advantageous to couple the affinity ligand to dextran rather than to PEG.

The partitioning of any particle is strongly dependent on its size: the larger the particle, the more extreme partitioning in the two-phase system [46]. When applied to a target-ligand-polymer complex, yet another way to increase the affinity partitioning of the target would be to increase the size of this complex by using a polymer of a larger MW coupled to the ligand, for instance, using Dextran T2000 instead of Dextran T500.

## 1.3. Why membranes?

A membrane defined the outer boundary of the first living cell nearly 4 billion years ago. Since then, membranes have evolved and with them their functions and roles in the cell. Membranes provide a means of communication between the inside and outside of the cell as well as between the compartments they delimit inside the cell. They allow passage of ions and

molecules, and they contain enzymes, which are involved in numerous fundamental cellular functions such as DNA replication, protein biosynthesis and secretion, and electron transport and ATP synthesis in mitochondria. They also allow passage of information, transmitted through conformational changes induced in membrane components. Transmembrane signalling is a primitive and ubiquitous function of membranes. Fossil evidence shows that cyanobacteria are the oldest known living cells, yet they are able to respond of to their environment. Examples biomolecules participating in transmembrane signalling in higher organisms include hormones. neurotransmitters and growth factors.

The key roles of membranes and membrane components in the life of all kinds of cells has turned the focus of biology, biochemistry, biophysics, medicine and other disciplines towards them: understanding how membranes work at the molecular level is a major goal of biological research of today.

#### 1.3.1. History of membranes

The modern study of membranes began separately in 1925 with Fricke [137] and Gorter and Grendel [138]. Using different techniques, they concluded that cells are surrounded by a hydrocarbon layer approximately 5 nm thick, a lipid bilayer. This theory was further elaborated by Danielli and Davson [139] in 1935 with the "paucimolecular" model, a lipoid core covered by protein layers. In the 1950's advances in electron microscopy (EM) allowed visualization of membranes as trilamellar structures. Later, with the arrival of NMR technology, came the first indications that membranes have a certain level of fluidity and in 1972 Singer and Nicholson [140] formulated the fluid-mosaic model. Since the 1970's, stimulated by the Singer and Nicholson model, there has been a dramatic increase in our perception of membrane structure and function. Our understanding of membranes arises from development of new techniques, such as spectroscopy, use of detergents, application of antibodies and DNA cloning, to membrane research.



**Figure 6. Membrane model evolution.** Different models of membrane structure are sketched together with an indication of some techniques used at the time that helped design the models.

The Singer and Nicholson model assumes that membranes are largely homogeneous structures, but it is now clear that membranes are heterogeneous in different respects. Apart from transverse asymmetry assumed in the model, i.e., the inner and outer leaflet contain different sets of protein and lipid, there is also lateral asymmetry as in the case of the apical and basolateral domains of liver plasma membranes. In the last decade the existence of microdomains within membranes has also been documented [141]. Fujiwara *et al.* recently proposed a new model, an anchored membrane-protein picket fence model, based on calculations of diffusion rates of single molecules in a membrane [142]. Their model postulates that the cell

membrane is compartmentalised and that this compartmentalisation depends on an actin-based membrane skeleton. Transmembrane proteins anchored to the skeleton act as posts along the skeleton fence (Fig. 6).

Membrane models will probably continue to undergo modifications as new techniques become available providing new data leading to a reassessment of our view of these intriguing structures that are membranes.

#### 1.3.2. Structure of membranes

The major components of membranes are protein and lipid where the protein part may constitute from 20 to 80% (dry weight) of the membrane. In addition, membranes may contain carbohydrate, in some cases as much as 10%, usually in the form of glycolipid or glycoprotein [32]. Although virtually all membranes share structural similarities, i.e., they are composed of a lipid bilayer with embedded proteins, they also exhibit very different functions, from the mitochondrial membrane with the highest protein to lipid ratio to neuronal membranes with the lowest ratio. Even when their protein to lipid ratio is very similar, membranes have different functions due to the different types of proteins and/or lipids they contain. Each membrane is a unique world, in which different processes and functions take place.

Membrane proteins are associated with the bilayer by a variety of means. Some span the membrane, integral proteins, interacting through nonpolar surfaces with the hydrophobic core of the bilayer. Others are associated with the membrane surface, peripheral proteins, through a combination of electrostatic and hydrophobic noncovalent interactions. Others again have covalently bound lipids that facilitate association to membranes [143].

All membranes have two faces, each exposed to a different environment, for instance, the cytoplasmic and the lumenal surface of intracellular membranes or the cytoplasmic and the exterior ones in the case of the plasma membrane.

The monolayer halves of the bilayer are different in composition, conferring a transverse asymmetry to the membrane.

In addition to transverse asymmetry, membranes show lateral asymmetry. Many membranes possess distinct macroscopic and microscopic domains. Macroscopic domains are morphologically visible and often separated by molecular barriers, e.g., the apical and basolateral domains of the liver plasma membrane or the stacked and stroma-exposed regions of the thylakoids [144]. Each domain contains its unique set of proteins. Other macroscopic domains can be formed due to protein aggregation as in the case of connexin in gap junctions [145].

Lateral asymmetry can also be found in the prokaryote kingdom. For example, gram-negative bacteria contain adhesion zones that appear to connect the inner and outer membranes [146].

Microscopic lipid domains are defined as small regions within the bilayer with distinct physical properties and composition. Plasma membranes have been extensively investigated biochemically and biophysically and the coexistence of two major kinds of microdomains within the plasma membrane are recognised [147]. These domains are usually called lipid rafts. One type of raft is enriched in glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI)-anchored proteins and the other in caveolin, these latter structures being termed caveolae.

In the picket fence model, Fujiwara *et al.* proposed that compartmentalisation into such microdomains of the eukaryotic cell membrane depends on transmembrane proteins anchored to the actin skeleton acting as posts along the skeleton fence. They measured the diffusion rates of phospholipids within these compartments and how these rates decreased when the lipids hopped to the next compartment.

The existence of lipid microdomains is not limited to plasma membranes, but might be a general feature of biomembranes. For instance, the rough endoplasmic reticulum (ER) has been shown to be laterally heterogeneous in

several subfractionation studies [148,149]. Other reports have also indicated the heterogeneity of the smooth ER, and Gierow *et al.* in the late 1980's studied this heterogeneity by two-phase partitioning. They succeeded in further fractionating smooth microsomes by CCD into at least five populations having different proportions of marker enzymes [150].

Lipid microdomains might be advantageous for cell function. Enzymes within the same membrane could be sequestered in unique environments where their activities may be optimised or regulated by specific protein or lipid interactions. At the same time the boundaries between domains would present packing discontinuities as in lipid phase transition where gel phase and liquid-crystalline phase coexist. From model studies it seems that such co-existence of phases will enhance passive transport several-fold [151]. Signal transduction and budding and fusion in vesicle transport are some cellular processes that might be explained in terms of presence or formation of microdomains [152,153].

### 1.3.2.1. Plasma membrane microdomains: rafts and caveolae

Many important functions of cellular membranes are closely associated with various specialised domains in the membrane. These domains include macrodomains such as tight junctions and microdomains like clathrin-coated pits, lipid rafts and caveolae.

Rafts and caveolae are microdomains within the plasma membrane of higher organisms. One shared structural characteristic is that they are detergent-insoluble. Caveolae are cell surface invaginations stabilised by structural proteins (caveolins) and deficient in GPI-anchored proteins, whereas lipid rafts do not invaginate, are enriched in GPI-anchored proteins and depleted in caveolin. Both types of microdomains have some common constituents, such as cholesterol, whose distribution between the two compartments is dynamic. Rafts have an average size from 25 to several hundred microns while

caveolae have a diameter of 60-80 nm [147]. Both types of microdomains are supposed to be involved in signalling. Some caveolin-interacting proteins involved in signalling are G-protein-coupled receptor kinase, protein kinase A, adenylyl cyclase and PKC $\alpha$  [154]. In contrast, rafts are associated to other transmembrane signalling proteins such as *Rho-A* and the interleukin receptor [155,156], thus possibly functioning in other signalling pathways than caveolae. Both microdomains are dynamic within the cell surface and might interact with each other. It has been reported that GPI-anchored proteins (usually found in rafts) may enter caveolae upon cross-linking with antibodies [157]. The relationship of all components involved in the regulation of signalling through these compartments is still poorly known. Only a few years ago, in 1998, Iwabuchi and co-workers managed to separate these microdomains from each other [158]. The lack of techniques to purify rafts and caveolae and the difficulty to observe them in vivo has impeded an understanding of their functions. Advances in light microscopic techniques have allowed the visualization of rafts. Single particle tracking microscopy allows the study of particle movements with submicron spatial resolution on the surfaces of living cells [159]. A combination of results from this new biophysical technique with those from in vitro subfractionation studies indicates that rafts occur in vivo and thus are not preparation artefacts.

#### 1.3.3. Liposomes as model membranes

Liposomes have been widely used as model membranes because they are simplified lipid bilayers, lacking other components as proteins or carbohydrates present in biological membranes. Liposomes have also been used for the introduction of genetic material into cells [160], the copresentation of antigens to lymphocytes [161], and in chemotherapy [162] and immunotherapy [163] as a drug delivery system.

Liposomes are vesicles in which an aqueous volume is enclosed by a lipid bilayer. Liposomes can be prepared from extracted constituents of biological

membranes to obtain the same lipid composition as in the membranes. Hence, the value of liposomes as model membrane systems.

Liposomes can be unilamellar or multilamellar (MLV) vesicles. These latter are usually 100-1000 in nm diameter with 5 or more concentric lipid bilayers. Unilamellar liposomes are usually classified according to their size into small unilamellar vesicles (SUV), approximately 20 nm diameter, and large unilamellar vesicles (LUV) with diameters of 1000 nm. Intermediate unilamellar vesicles have a size in between those of SUVs and LUVs [164].

There are different methods for preparing liposomes and depending on the preparation method chosen, liposomes can be obtained in different sizes and consisting of a single bilayer or multiple concentric layers. A common characteristic of the methods for liposome preparation is that the first step is usually to dry the lipids from organic solvents followed by dispersion in aqueous solution. When lipids are dispersed in an aqueous solution, multilamellar structures form spontaneously. Some examples of preparation methods are sonication, French Press treatment and membrane extrusion. Sonication of MLVs yields vesicles of the smallest size possible and is the most widely used method for producing SUV. The French Press technique yields intermediate sized liposomes (30-80 nm) by extrusion of preformed liposomes under high pressure. Membrane extrusion is a gentler method of reducing the size of liposomes by passing them through a membrane filter of defined pore size. This can be achieved at lower pressures than those of the French Press and defined sizes can be obtained depending on the pore size of the filter used [164].

It is also possible to reconstitute membrane proteins, such as transporters and receptors, into liposomes where their characteristics can be more easily investigated than in their original membranes [165]. Proteins and other types of molecules such as biotin can be covalently attached to the surface of liposomes. Protein-conjugated liposomes are used in diagnostic applications and as targeted drug delivery systems. Biotinylated liposomes have been

used in the work presented in this thesis (papers I, II and IV) as models for membranes in affinity separation studies.

## 2. Present investigations

The objective of this thesis work was to develop affinity two-phase partitioning to become a general biospecific purification tool for membranes. The method should be particularly useful for less abundant membranes or membrane subfractions. As is evident from the discussion in the previous sections, different techniques are used for the purification of membranes, each of them having advantages and drawbacks. No technique alone is sufficient for the isolation of a specific highly purified membrane fraction; rather, combinations of two or more techniques usually have to be employed. This is particularly evident in the purification of less abundant membranes. It is therefore of interest to have at hand as many fractionation techniques as possible, based on different separation principles. In contrast to centrifugation, the most common and rather unspecific fractionation technique, affinity two-phase partitioning introduces specificity by the use of an affinity ligand. In addition, separations are performed in a mild aqueous environment, also avoiding the shear effects of centrifugation or the non-specific adsorption to solid phases of immunoprecipitation. As an example, caveolae, a microregion of the plasma membrane, was purified by combining centrifugation steps with affinity twophase partitioning in paper III.

When this work started there were some reports concerning affinity two-phase partitioning for the purification of membraneous material, but little was known about why the method works and the limitations of the technique. Thus, examination of separation variables was imperative before the method could be generally applied.

The first objective was to define basic parameters required for affinity partitioning of membranes. This was done using a model system of biotinylated liposomes with NeutrAvidin-dextran as affinity ligand (papers I & II). A next step was to partition biotinylated biological membranes instead of liposomes with the same affinity ligand (paper II). Then, based on the

#### 2. Present investigations

conditions found for affinity partitioning of biotinylated membranes, caveolae were purified. In this case antibodies were used as immunoaffinity ligands. The introduction of a primary antibody provided specificity and the combination of biotinylated secondary antibody interacting with NeutrAvidin-dextran intended to make the technique generally applicable (paper III). Finally, the possibility of performing micro-scale affinity two-phase partitioning was investigated in paper IV.

## 2.1. Affinity two-phase partitioning of membraneous material

#### 2.1.1. Model membranes: biotinylated liposomes (papers I and II)

From the various kinds of liposomes that can be prepared (see review in [164]), we chose to work with SUV prepared by sonication as model for membranes. These liposomes are uniform in size and easy to prepare. The affinity pair chosen for the affinity partitioning experiments was avidin/biotin, because their affinity constant is extremely high ( $K_a = 10^{15} M^{-1}$ ) [166] and should not be a limiting factor. Biotin was introduced into the liposomes by incorporation of biotinylated phosphatidylethanolamine (PE). As for avidin, the deglycosylated form NeutrAvidin was used to avoid unspecific binding without affecting the interaction with biotin [167]. In paper I, NeutrAvidin was coupled to Dextran T500, which was also the bulk bottom phase polymer in the PEG/dextran two-phase system. In paper II NeutrAvidin was coupled to Dextran T2000 instead and with Dextran T40 as bulk phase polymer. In both types of systems the liposomes partitioned equally well to the top phase in the absence of affinity ligand. In its presence, however, a slight increase in partitioning towards the bottom phase was observed when the ligand-coupled polymer was noticeably larger than the phase polymer. Therefore NeutrAvidin was coupled to Dextran T2000 and Dextran T40 was chosen as phase polymer.

#### 2.1. Affinity two-phase partitioning of membraneous material

In previous study, biotinylated liposomes composed а solely of phosphatidylcholine (PC) had been extracted by NeutrAvidin-dextran into the bottom phase of a PEG/dextran two-phase system [168]. Membranes biotinylated in the same manner could not be extracted, however. Therefore, in paper I, a more complex membrane model was introduced to investigate various partitioning parameters, as well as to optimise the system for future applications with biological membranes. Liposomes containing a mixture of different lipids, PC together with one of the phospholipids two phosphatidylserine (PS), phosphatidylglycerol (PG), phosphatidylinositol (PI) or PE were partitioned in the two-phase system. PC liposomes are electroneutral, while membranes carry a negative net surface charge. Introduction of the negatively charged PS, PG and PI into PC liposomes were therefore thought to make these liposomes resemble biological membranes more.

Conditions were chosen to partition all material into the top phase of the twophase system in the absence of NeutrAvidin-dextran. In the presence of NeutrAvidin, instead, the biotinylated liposomes were expected to partition in the bottom phase due to interactions between NeutrAvidin and biotin. Conversely to expectations, this behaviour was only observed with biotinylated liposomes containing less than 10% (w/w) of negatively charged phospholipids; biotinylated PC liposomes including 10 % or more of PS, PG or PI were found in the top phase. However, PC liposomes containing up to 75% of the electroneutral PE distributed in the bottom phase in a NeutrAvidindependent manner similar to liposomes consisting of PC only. These results indicated that the introduction of negative charges in the liposomes weakened the otherwise very strong interaction between biotin and NeutrAvidin.

The effect of charge on the biotin-NeutrAvidin interaction was further investigated by altering the net surface charge of either liposomes or NeutrAvidin. To assure that the behaviour of the liposomes was not inflicted by the polar head group of the phospholipids, the charge of electroneutral PC liposomes was this time altered by introduction of the negatively charged
surfactant sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS) or the positively charged dodecyltrimethylammonium bromide (DTAB). The charge of NeutrAvidin was modified by changing the pH of the affinity two-phase system in a pH interval where the surface charge of the liposomes was unaffected. It was found that biotinylated PC liposomes, negatively charged by inclusion of SDS, distributed in the PEG-rich top phase, both in the presence or absence of NeutrAvidin, in the same manner as PC liposomes including negatively charged PS did (Fig. 7 A). When the negative charges of these liposomes were neutralised by inclusion of DTAB these liposomes instead partitioned into the bottom phase (Fig. 7 B). When the charges on NeutrAvidin were modified by lowering the pH of the affinity two-phase system below its isoelectric point (pl=6.3), the negatively charged PC liposomes containing PS partitioned in the bottom phase (Fig. 7 C).

An explanation for these findings comes from the structure of avidin and its biotin-binding site. The avidin molecule forms a beta-barrel and the biotin-binding site is situated deeply in a pocket close to one end of the barrel, 1-1.2 nm below the avidin surface [169]. Due to this structure biotin was attached via a 0.9 nm long spacer arm to avoid steric hindrance and allow biotin to reach and bind to the binding site properly. This was also the case for neutral PC liposomes [168]. The effect of negative charges of the liposome surface on the biotin-NeutrAvidin interaction was highly unexpected, however, as the avidin-biotin interaction is extremely high, in fact the highest affinity found between biological molecules. An interpretation is that acidic amino acids in the loops at the rim of the biotin-binding pocket of NeutrAvidin may repel negatively charged residues of the closely apposed liposome surface affecting the affinity interaction.

The effect of the charges of the surroundings may not only be crucial in affinity two-phase partitioning employing the biotin-avidin interaction, but also in other affinity techniques where similar ligand interactions are involved. Wider implications of such electrostatic effects might be in model binding studies and in the regulation of natural processes. Electrostatic repulsion

could be part of regulatory mechanisms in protein-protein interactions if at least one protein is embedded in a membrane, such as in receptor-effector interactions, or when interacting proteins are embedded in two different membranes, such as in the docking of transport vesicles. Regulation of the surface charge of a vesicle, for instance by phosphorylation reactions, could be a means of regulating the permitted proximity and thus, in the latter example, docking.



**Figure 7. Affinity partitioning of liposomes under different charge conditions.** A) Both liposome and NeutrAvidin are negatively charged and liposomes partition in the top phase. If either liposome (B) or affinity ligand (C) has no net negative charge, interactions between biotin and avidin are allowed and the liposomes are pulled down into the bottom phase.

Results from paper I indicated that charge limitations of the affinity interaction could be overcome by three approaches. The first and second approaches involve the alteration of the net charge of either liposomes or NeutrAvidin,

respectively, while the third one involves the physical separation of the charged surfaces of the liposome and NeutrAvidin, thereby decreasing the repulsive force. As liposomes are used merely as membrane models, alteration of their net surface charge or performing the affinity two-phase partitioning at low pH values were not ideal solutions. The third and most attractive approach involves the use of a longer spacer to keep liposome and NeutrAvidin sufficiently apart to avoid not only steric hindrance but also electrostatic repulsion. This approach could feasibly also be applied to membrane fractions with a more or less negative net surface charge. Consequently, the use of a longer spacer would facilitate the development of affinity partitioning as a general tool for membrane purification.

In paper II, the use of a hexanamidohexanoyl spacer (1.7 nm), instead of the earlier amidohexanoyl one (0.9 nm) in negatively charged PC liposomes including PS increased the partitioning of the liposomes into the bottom phase in the presence of the affinity ligand. This corroborated the previous hypothesis that an increase in the distance between the charged liposome surface containing biotin and the charged loops of NeutrAvidin would favour their interaction. These results were further interpreted in terms of the Debye Length (D.L.) [170], which is the distance between two charged species where the repulsion is attenuated (Fig. 8). In other words D.L. represents the restrictive distance between two charged species. The D.L. is strongly influenced by the ionic strength of the solution. At 20 mM Li<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> the negatively charged liposomes carrying the short spacer were found predominantly in the top phase, indicating that the affinity interaction was not fully achieved (Fig. 8 A). Under these conditions, the D.L., i.e., the restrictive distance between the liposome surface and the loops of the NeutrAvidin pocket, was such that the biotin moiety did not reach the binding site at the end of the pocket. When the spacer length was increased, 50-65% of the liposomes partitioned to the bottom phase. A possible explanation for this observation is that the biotin moiety penetrates further into the pocket but does not reach the binding site completely (Fig. 8 B). Thus, taking into account that avidin is a dynamic structure, it is a matter of probability to find 50-65% of the liposomes bound to avidin. Increasing the  $Li_2SO_4$  concentration decreased the restrictive distance (D.L.) and liposomes with biotin attached via the long spacer were then found predominantly in the bottom phase of the two-phase system, indicating that the biotin moiety reached the binding site and optimum binding occurred (Fig. 8 C).



Figure 8. Influence of D.L. (restrictive distance) and spacer length on binding. At 20 mM  $Li_2SO_4$  (A & B) the D.L. is longer than at 35 mM  $Li_2SO_4$  (C). The biotin moiety does not reach the binding site with a short spacer (A). A longer spacer (B & C) allows it further into the pocket. Only when the D.L. is decreased and the long spacer used (C) does biotin reach the binding site at the bottom of the pocket properly, allowing optimum binding.

Addition of  $Li_2SO_4$  was not only critical for shielding the electrostatic repulsion (decreasing the D.L. distance), but also to distribute negatively charged biotinylated mixed liposomes to the top phase of the two-phase system. A minimum of 5 mM  $Li_2SO_4$  was required to push the negatively charged

liposomes into the top phase but up to 35 mM was necessary for the affinity ligand to redistribute the liposomes into the bottom phase. An optimum working concentration was found between 35 and 60 mM Li<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>. In this range ca. 90% of the liposomes partitioned to the top phase in the absence of affinity ligand and 95% to the bottom phase in its presence. A rough thermodynamic interpretation of this observation could be as follows: from a thermodynamic point of view, the two main factors determining the partitioning of the liposomes in the two-phase system are the contribution of hydrophobic interactions between liposomes and phase components and the contribution of electrostatic interactions. When no Li<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> is present, negatively charged PC liposomes containing PS distribute to the bottom phase presumably due to their preference for dextran molecules as these are more hydrophilic than PEG. Adding salt to the system increases electrostatic interactions. As sulphate ions prefer the dextran-rich bottom phase and lithium ions the PEGrich top one [46], the negatively charged liposomes are forced into the top phase. It appears that 35 mM salt produced the ionic strength required to decrease the D.L. and allow interaction between NeutrAvidin-dextran and biotin. At higher salt concentrations the liposomes distribute again in the bottom phase with and without affinity ligand. This could be explained by the effect of higher concentrations of salts on the binodial curve; the position of the binodial curve in the phase diagram moves towards higher polymer concentrations under such conditions. Consequently, the overall composition of the phases of the system become more similar to each other and the contribution of hydrophobic interactions seems to dominate over electrostatic ones, possibly explaining the observed partitioning of negatively charged liposomes at high salt concentration.

A conclusion to be drawn from this analysis is that an increase of the salt concentration to decrease the D.L. is a good solution to avoid charge repulsion between closely apposed surfaces as long as this salt concentration does not affect the binodial curve of the phase system considerably.

The effects of the concentration of NeutrAvidin-dextran and the density of biotin on the surface of the liposomes were investigated to establish minimal requirements for affinity partitioning of liposomes using the biotin-NeutrAvidin interaction. At the highest amount of NeutrAvidin-dextran tested,  $60 \mu g$ , the affinity ligand is in 10-fold excess over the amount of liposomes added to the system. Under these conditions, liposomes carrying the short or long spacers distributed similarly in the two-phase system. It was only when less NeutrAvidin-dextran was used that liposomes having the longer spacer distributed slightly more into the bottom phase than those with the short one. At all NeutrAvidin concentrations, the increase of biotin on the surface of the liposomes (from *ca.* 15 to *ca.* 30 biotin residues per liposome) increased their distribution into the bottom phase.

Once the conditions had been established for the affinity partitioning of liposomes having different charges, liposomes composed of a more complex mixture of phospholipids to reflect the lipid diversity in biological membranes were tested. These liposomes had a similar lipid composition to that of rat liver microsomes with a total of 11.8% of negatively charged phospholipids (58% PC, 29% PE, 3.6% PS, 1.2% PG and 7% PI). These liposomes were found in the top phase in the absence of affinity ligand, while 98% distributed in the bottom phase with NeutrAvidin-dextran.

### 2.1.2. Biological membranes: biotinylated microsomes (paper II)

Having established conditions for the affinity partitioning of complex model membranes, the next step was to examine whether biological membranes behave in the same way in affinity two-phase systems under similar conditions. Rat liver microsomes were isolated by centrifugation and biotinylated in the same manner as liposomes by inclusion of a biotinylated lipid. The distribution of biotinylated microsomal membranes in the two-phase system was followed by monitoring the total protein and specific markers for

two main membrane populations of this fraction, i.e. 5'-nucleotidase for plasma membranes and arylesterase for ER.

With the exception that 35 mM salt was required to distribute them into the top phase, all three markers (protein, plasma membranes and ER) partitioned similarly to the negatively charged liposomes in the studied salt range and with long and short spacers. This indicates that the negatively charged PC liposomes containing PS are the simplest models to predict membrane partitioning, in contrast to the liposomes containing solely PC.

In view of the fact that liposomes can predict the partitioning of membranes fairly well, the lipid constituents of biological membranes seem to have an important role in their partitioning behaviour. The fact that liposomes do not predict the exact behaviour of microsomes in two-phase systems indicates that other membrane components than lipids also play a role. Proteins, for instance, could affect the partitioning of membranes by introducing extra charges or altering the local distribution of the lipids on the membranes.

The specificity of the technique was assessed by partitioning a mixture of biotinylated microsomal membranes and non-biotinylated liposomes. All the material stayed in the top phase in the absence of NeutrAvidin but only biotinylated membranes distributed in the bottom phase in the presence of the affinity ligand, indicating that the separation of biotinylated membranes from liposomes was due to the specific interaction of biotin and NeutrAvidin.

In conclusion, we have developed a system in which we can evaluate the influence of different parameters on the affinity two-phase partitioning of liposomes and furthermore affinity partitioning of biotinylated membranes exploiting the avidin-biotin interaction has been made possible.

# 2.1.3. Membrane microdomains: caveolae (paper III)

Although affinity partitioning of membranes was first introduced in 1975 by Flanagan *et al.* [171], the technique has only become a useful method for the isolation of plasma membranes utilising the lectin wheat germ agglutinin as affinity ligand [134,135,172,173]. Receptors suitable for affinity partitioning are less common in many membranes, however, impeding a general use of the method. We have, therefore, examined the possibility of exploiting antigenantibody interactions as a basis for affinity partitioning.

To make the affinity method readily applicable to various antibodies an immunoaffinity sandwich approach was explored, using a specific primary antibody, a biotinylated secondary antibody and NeutrAvidin-dextran as affinity species. Reasons for introducing a biotinylated secondary antibody, rather than biotinylating a primary antibody are their commercial availability and because it obviates the need to separately biotinylate each primary antibody to be tested as an affinity ligand. In addition, conditions required for two-phase affinity partitioning based on the biotin-NeutrAvidin interaction have already been established in papers I and II.

We used anticaveolin-1 as primary antibody which interacts with caveolin, an integral protein and marker of caveolae vesicles. Caveolae are often-studied microdomains of the plasma membrane. We chose to purify caveolae by affinity two-phase partitioning not only because they presumably are involved in important cellular processes, such as signal transduction, but also because they are difficult to isolate with the range of fractionation techniques available today. They also have a defined size and are readily recognised by EM. The two-phase system chosen was that used previously in paper II but with borate buffer instead. Using this system all membrane material will distribute in the PEG-rich top phase in the absence of one or all affinity ligands. The use of borate buffer causes plasma membranes to distribute slightly more into the top phase than when HEPES buffer with Li<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> was used. In addition, the choice of borate obviates the need of extra salt in the system.

As an initial experiment this immunoaffinity sandwich approach was tested on caveolae-enriched fractions prepared by Triton X-100 treatment of plasma membranes followed by centrifugation in sucrose gradients. This fraction partitioned in the top phase in the absence of the affinity ligands. In the complete affinity system, containing primary and secondary antibodies as well as NeutrAvidin-dextran, the material distributed instead predominantly in the dextran-rich bottom phase indicating that the interactions in this immunoaffinity sandwich approach were sufficiently strong to redistribute caveolin-containing material from the top to the bottom phase.

Another microdomain of the plasma membrane, besides caveolae, that is also resistant to detergent treatment is lipid rafts. These rafts are therefore a likely contaminant of the caveolae-enriched fraction obtained by sucrose gradient centrifugation. Lipid rafts are characteristically bigger as visualised by EM and enriched in the GPI-linked 5'-nucleotidase. The selectivity of the immunoaffinity system and purity of the obtained material was assessed by EM visualisation and determination the caveolin/5'-nucleotidase ratio of the vesicles obtained in top and bottom phases.

EM revealed an uneven distribution of vesicles of different sizes between the phases of the affinity system. The bottom phase presented small vesicles resembling the size of caveolae given in literature and a high caveolin/5'-nucleotidase ratio. This ratio was similar to that of the caveolae-enriched fraction prepared by centrifugation, or higher in the case of the liver material. This difference presumably reflects the more pronounced heterogeneity of the liver fraction as seen in the EM pictures. The top phase contained larger vesicles, presumably representing lipid rafts as their size is in agreement with values given in literature for lipid rafts.

Selectivity of the immunoaffinity system was further investigated by following the distribution of the endoplasmic reticulum marker NADH-ferricyanide reductase of extrinsically added microsomes to a caveolae-enriched fraction. The ER marker partitioned in the top phase, as when microsomes were added

to the system alone, while caveolae were pulled to the bottom phase by the affinity components.

The next step was the purification of caveolae from a cruder fraction, such as Triton X-100-treated plasma membranes, more heterogeneous in vesicle size and with a 20 times lower caveolin/5' ratio. The caveolin marker distributed in the same manner as in previous experiments, i.e. predominantly in the bottom phase, and EM examination of the phases showed a similar uneven distribution of vesicles, i.e. with smaller vesicles in the bottom phase and larger ones in the top.

When the material was extracted from lung sources, electron micrographs and the caveolin/5'-nucleotidase ratio were similar in the caveolae-enriched fraction obtained by gradient centrifugation before as well as after affinity partitioning and also in the Triton X-100-treated plasma membranes after affinity partitioning. The vesicles were relatively small and they had the similar high caveolin/5'-nucleotidase ratios. A conclusion is that caveolae had been purified and that affinity two-phase partitioning yielded a fraction similar in purity as the one obtained by centrifugation. In the case of fractions prepared from liver tissue the caveolin/5'-nucleotidase ratio of Triton X-100-treated plasma membranes increased only 1.5-fold upon density gradient centrifugation and 3-fold after affinity two-phase partitioning, indicating that the affinity method provides a more pure fraction in just one step, also supported by the electron micrographs. The lower ratio found in liver compared to the lung material is in agreement with the relative quantity of caveolin and 5'-nucleotidase in plasma membranes of those tissues. Caveolin is more abundant in lung plasma membranes and 5'-nucleotidase in liver ones. Nevertheless, it would be interesting to examine whether the relative distribution of 5'-nucleotidase between rafts and caveolae would be different in lung and liver.

Also, the Triton X-100-treated plasma membrane fraction from lung was used to investigate the effect of the concentration of ligands as well as the loading

capacity of the affinity system. The material distributed to the bottom phase in a NeutrAvidin dependent manner similar to that observed for liposomes previously, although higher concentrations were required here. The distribution was also dependent on the concentration of the antibodies, where high concentrations appear to aggregate the membranes, decreasing their preference for the top phase in the absence of NeutrAvidin. As to the loading capacity of the system, it was found to be approx. 25  $\mu$ g membrane protein / g system at the set concentrations of affinity ligands.

Finally, affinity two-phase partitioning might be useful for the purification of caveolae from other sources as, for instance, adipocyte tissue as indicated by some preliminary tests done in the laboratory, and for the isolation of other membrane fractions using this immunosandwich approach but with other suitable primary antibodies to membrane proteins as affinity ligands.

# **2.2. Miniaturisation of affinity partitioning in levitated drops** (paper IV)

Miniaturisation is a trend in many fields, including chemistry, which has generated considerable interest over the last decade and it has become very much a hot topic recently. Some reasons for moving to smaller-scale synthesis, fractionation and analysis include high sample throughput, cost reductions and, particularly within biochemistry, that fractionation and analysis on a smaller scale requires less biological material.

The possibility of performing affinity two-phase partitioning in a miniaturised system was examined in paper IV. Two-phase systems similar in composition to those used on a larger scale (1 ml) in paper II were used, containing NeutrAvidin-dextran as affinity ligand and with biotinylated PC liposomes as model material. The liposomes were heavily tritiated to allow the detection of small quantities of material.

#### 2.2. Miniaturisation of affinity partitioning in levitated drops

Drops of approximately 1 µl can be trapped in a node of a standing ultrasonic wave in a levitator [174-176]. The open environment of the levitator, together with the small volume of the drop, causes significant evaporation. This was followed by measuring the drop volume aided by a microscope and a computer program. The evaporation could be compensated for by addition of picolitre droplets of water by a specifically made dispenser. Thus, changes in the polymer concentration of the two-phase drop and consequently in the affinity partitioning could be avoided. Drops were kept levitated up to 15 min without significant decrease in volume, but presumably drops could stay in a node for longer periods of time unaltered. Consequently, a drop can be kept levitating unaffected by evaporation, thus allowing incubation of ligands or components in the drop prior to phase separation.



**Figure 9. Formation of levitated two-phase drops.** A) One drop of each phase of a pre-equilibrated two-phase system is placed in a levitator's node and mixed by adjusting the ultrasonic field and allowing phase separation in the levitator. B) By controlled evaporation of a one-phase drop of a polymer mixture.

Two alternatives were explored to prepare miniature two-phase systems in levitated drops (Fig. 9). As a first alternative one drop of each phase of a preequilibrated two-phase system was added to the node. The drops merged

#### 2.2. Miniaturisation of affinity partitioning in levitated drops

immediately, and after mixing by altering the ultrasonic setting, phase separation was followed visually aided by a microscope (Fig. 9 A). Although such a manual addition of the phases works well, a future automation of the process would require addition, for instance, by a dispenser coupled to some kind of pump system. Due to the small size of the nozzles of the dispenser and the high viscosities of the phases a problem was that significant clogging occurred. As a second alternative, one two-phase drop was formed by controlled evaporation of a sufficiently diluted polymer mixture forming a one-phase drop (Fig. 9 B). Not only less manipulation is required in this approach, but it would also be suitable for automation as the phase system can be diluted sufficiently to avoid clogging of the dispenser.

Two alternative approaches were used to add the liposomes to drop. In the first one liposomes were pre-incubated in the pre-made two-phase system to allow interaction with the affinity ligand and added to the levitator together with the drop. In the second approach liposomes were added to the already levitated drop by a flow-through dispenser, and incubated in the drop kept at constant volume by water addition through the dispenser. The phases were removed from the drop by specifically made micropipettes. Radiometric analyses showed a similar liposome partitioning as in large-scale systems. Any other component or ligand required in other applications might be added in this way and incubated in the levitated drop.

The results of paper IV indicate the wide useful range of affinity two-phase partitioning, from 1  $\mu$ I in levitated drops to larger preparative systems at least up to 30 g [177], or possibly even larger in industrial applications. They also indicate that affinity two-phase partitioning potentially can be applied to a wide range of purposes from industrial preparative fractionations to miniaturised analysis.

# 3. Conclusions and perspectives

The objective of this thesis work was to develop affinity two-phase partitioning to become a general tool for the biospecific purification of membranes. Caveolae from lung and liver have been isolated as an example of the application of this method. As a further development of the immunoaffinity sandwich approach presented in this thesis, it should be possible to isolate other membrane fractions by using other suitable primary antibodies to membrane proteins as affinity ligands. Hence, the main goal of this work has been largely fulfilled.

# Several concrete conclusions can be drawn from the work presented in this thesis:

- The otherwise extremely strong interaction between avidin and biotin is weakened by charges present on the surface of negatively charged biotinylated liposomes presumably due to electrostatic repulsion. This has implications for other systems utilising the biotin-avidin interaction.
- 2. By combining the use of a spacer, such as the hexanamidohexanoyl one and appropriate ionic strength in the two-phase system, the biotin moiety of the liposomes could interact properly with its binding site inside avidin. Consequently, affinity partitioning of negatively charged biotinylated liposomes and membranes using NeutrAvidin-dextran as affinity ligand became possible.
- 3. The introduction of biotin-NeutrAvidin as an affinity pair is a promising approach to make the method generally applicable as the biotin-avidin interaction is well studied and conditions required for two-phase affinity partitioning based on this interaction were established in papers I, II and III.
- 4. Purification of caveolae by affinity two-phase partitioning was not only remarkably faster than the gradient centrifugation method but it yielded a caveolae fraction as pure as in centrifugation in the case of lung and with even higher purity in the case of liver material.

- 5. The immunosandwich technique is a good approach to make the method generally applicable because it relies on biotinylated secondary antibodies, which are commercially available, obviating the need to separately biotinylate each primary antibody to be tested as an affinity ligand.
- 6. In addition to preparative fractionations affinity partitioning can be done on microscale suitable for analytical purposes.

# **Perspectives:**

### Model experiments:

Proteins and other membrane components should be reconstituted into liposomes to further investigate factors determining the affinity partitioning of membranes. Is the partitioning mainly determined by membrane lipids, membrane proteins, the protein/lipid ratio, or perhaps by net surface charge or distribution of charges?

# The immunoaffinity approach:

The selectivity and general applicability of the method should be further investigated by using other primary antibodies for the isolation of other intracellular membrane fractions. Further questions to be addressed are the minimum number of binding sites on a membrane vesicle required for affinity interaction, the best way of separating purified membranes from the polymer-antibody-complex and the minimum abundance of a membrane population possible to isolate from a complex membrane mixture. A quantitative comparison between affinity two-phase partitioning and immunoadsorption to beads in terms of structure/function/stability/yield/purity of the purified material would also be interesting.

# The miniaturised system:

A next step would be to test affinity partitioning with membranes, for instance using WGA as affinity ligand to extract plasma membranes. Detection systems must be developed for such small quantities of material; one approach would be the use of fluorescence tags. Another step would be to test the immunoaffinity system and to use the miniaturised system for screening separation conditions and different ligands.

Affinity two-phase partitioning in levitated drops coupled to sensitive analytical detection techniques could open very interesting possibilities in the field of single cell biochemistry. A single cell could be levitated in a drop and disrupted *in situ* in order to fractionate membranes by affinity two-phase partitioning for further characterisation of cell components. Currently, little is known about differences between single cells in terms of structure and/or function. Miniaturised affinity two-phase partitioning might allow the study of components of individual cells and a comparison between cells from the same tissue.

# 4. Acknowledgements

I arrived in Sweden in the summer 1996 to study some biochemistry courses. To my surprise it was very good weather: hot!. In Sweden!!

After two years as an undergraduate I started working on this thesis at the department of Biochemistry. From 1998 to 2003, 5 years of hard laboratory work including some happy successful days and other not so successful ones. In spite of all this hard work combined with the "wonderful" Swedish winters, I have to say that I enjoyed tremendously my stay here and my work in this department because everyone in my surroundings has been very friendly.

In particular I would like to express my gratitude to:

<u>Bengt</u>, thanks for your patience and sense of humour; I have learnt a lot from you. It's been a pleasure being a PhD student under your supervision. <u>Parisa</u>, thanks for putting up with my bad days, sharing the good ones, and for all the chatting in the office. <u>Lars</u>, thanks for helping getting me started in the lab.

<u>Sabina</u>, thanks for the general conversations about life between drops. It 's been really fun to work with you, I have looked forward to getting to the lab everyday to see the little drops.

<u>Ama y aita</u>: gracias por enseñarme que todo se logra con perseveración y trabajo duro. Gracias por estar siempre al otro lado del teléfono y hacerme sentir que a pesar de los miles de kilómetros que nos separan, estamos unidos. Gracias por aceptarme tal como soy, con mis cabezonerías y rabietas y apoyarme y animarme en los dias en los que los experimentos no salieron como yo esperaba. <u>Laura</u>: gracias por ser tan distinta de mi a pesar de compartir muchos genes iguales, me has ayudado a comprender que no todo el mundo piensa o actua como yo. Te deseo muchas suerte en tu carrera artística.

Os quiero mucho.

Jonathan: thanks for everything.

<u>Gert</u>: thanks for always fixing anything that stop working and always being so calm about it. The department seems to stop functioning whenever you are away on holidays; you are a very special person for all of us.

All friends and present and former colleagues, thanks for all the parties and visits to the pub, because life is more than being in the lab. Specially, <u>Jon</u>, <u>Torny</u>, <u>Per</u>, <u>Josefine</u>, <u>Johan K</u>, and <u>Johan B</u>.

<u>Cecilie</u>, <u>Cecilia K</u>, <u>Malin</u>, and <u>Emma:</u> I enjoyed a lot our "tea meetings" in Kämnärsvägen.

# 5. References

- [1] J.H. Quastel, Can. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 62 (1984) 1103.
- [2] A. Claude, J. Exp. Med. 84 (1948) 51.
- [3] A. Claude, J. Exp. Med. 84 (1948) 64.
- [4] G.H. Hogeboom, W.C. Schneider, G.E. Palade, J. Biol. Chem. 172 (1948) 619.
- [5] W.C. Schneider, J. Biol. Chem. 176 (1948) 259.
- [6] E.L. Kuff, W.C. Schneider, J. Biol. Chem. 206 (1954) 677.
- [7] J.C. Giddings, Sep. Sci. 1 (1966) 123.
- [8] J.C. Kendrew, Fed. Proc. 18 (1959) 740.
- [9] A. Klug, Life 51 (2001) 1.
- [10] W.H. Mc Donald, I. J. R. Yates, Traffic 1 (2000) 747.
- [11] J. Klose, Genotypes and phenotypes 20 (1999) 643.
- [12] S.P. Gygi, B. Rist, S.A. Gerber, F. Turecek, M.H. Gelb, R. Aebersold, Nat. Biotechnol. 17 (1999) 994.
- [13] H.J. Zhou, A. Ranish, J.D. Watts, R. Aebersold, Nat. Biotechnol. 20 (2002) 512.
- [14] E. Wallin, G. von Heijne, Protein Sci. 7 (1998) 1029.
- [15] L.A. Price, Centrifugation in Density Gradients., Academic Press, New York, 1982.
- [16] N.E. Tolbert, Method Enzymol. 31 (1974.) 734.
- [17] L. He, J.L. Lemasters, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 16755.
- [18] J.K. Zehmer, J.R. Hazel, J. Exp. Biol. 206 (2003) 1657.
- [19] M.J. Rocha, E. Rocha, A.D. Resende, A. Lobo-da-Cunha, BMC Biochem. 4 (2003) 2.
- [20] N.N.J. Aronson, O. Touster, Method Enzymol. 31 (1974) 90 .
- [21] G.H. Hogeboom, Methods Enzymol. 1 (1955) 16.
- [22] M. Lecocq, F. Andrianaivo, M.T. Warnier, S. Wattiaux-De Coninck, R. Wattiaux, M. Jadot, J. Gene Med. 5 (2003) 142.
- [23] S. Miyata, J. Minami, E. Tamai, O. Matsushita, S. Shimamoto, A. Okabe, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 39463.

- [24] W. Fuller, P. Eaton, R.A. Medina, J. Bell, M.J. Shattock, Anal. Biochem. 293 (2001) 216.
- [25] H. Sigfusson, H.O. Hultin, J. Agric. Food Chem. 50 (2002) 7120.
- [26] D.F. Dukers, P. Meij, M.B. Vervoort, W. Vos, R.J. Scheper, C.J. Meijer,E. Bloemena, J.M. Middeldorp, J. Immunol. 165 (2000) 663.
- [27] M. Mallardo, A. Deitinghoff, J. Muller, B. Goetze, P. Macchi, C. Peters,M.A. Kiebler, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 100 (2003) 2100.
- [28] D. Rickwood (D. Rickwood, B.D. Hames), Centrifugation: A Practical Approach, in Practical approaches in biochemistry series. IRL press, Oxford, Washington DC, 1984.
- [29] D. Rickwood, in Centrifugal Separations in Molecular and Cell Biology G.D. Birnie, D. Rickwood (Editors), Butterworths, London and Boston, 1978, p. 219.
- [30] S.J. Morris, I. Schovanka, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 464 (1977) 53.
- [31] H. Pertoft, The Use of Density Gradients of Percoll for the Separation of Biological Particles, in Separation of Cells and Subcellular Elements.
  H. Peeters (Editor), Pergamon Press, New York, 1979, p. 67.
- [32] R.B. Gennis, Biomembranes: Molecular Structure and Function., Springer-Verlag, New York, 1989.
- [33] V. Ghetie, A. Mota, J. Sjöquist, J. Immunol. Methods 21 (1978) 133.
- [34] W.D. Matthew, L. Tsavaler, L.F. Reichardt, J. Cell Biol. 91 (1981) 257.
- [35] J.P. Luzio, A.C. Newby, C.N. Hales, Biochem. Soc. Transact. 2 (1974) 1385.
- [36] D.D. Doyle, G. Goings, J. Upshaw-Earley, S.K. Ambler, A. Mondul,H.C. Palfrey, E. Page, Circ. Res. 87 (2000) 480.
- [37] A. Woywodt, F. Streiber, K. de Groot, H. Regelsberger, H. Haller, M. Haubitz, Lancet 361 (2003) 206.
- [38] M.C. Jamur, A.C. Grodzki, A.N. Moreno, W.D. Swaim, R.P. Siraganian,C. Oliver, J. Histochem. Cytochem. 45 (1997) 1715.
- [39] R.K. Zhong, A.D. Donnenberg, H.F. Zhang, S. Watkins, J.H. Zhou,E.D. Ball, J. Immunol. 163 (1999) 1354.
- [40] P.J. Richardson, K. Siddle, J.P. Luzio, Biochem. J. 219 (1984) 647.

- [41] P.S. Sexton, R.J. Cenedella, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 295 (2002) 1027.
- [42] Dynal, Cell Separation and Protein Purification., Ensjö Offset a.s., Oslo.
- [43] M.W. Beijerink, Parasiten und Infektionskrankenherten in Zentralblatt für Bakteriologie O. Uhlworm (Editor), 1896, p. 697.
- [44] P.-Å. Albertsson, Nature 177 (1956) 771.
- [45] P.-Å. Albertsson, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 27 (1958) 378.
- [46] P.-Å. Albertsson, Partition of Cell Particles and Macromolecules, Wiley, New York, 1971.
- [47] H. Walter, D.E. Brooks, D. Fisher (Partitioning in Aqueous Two-Phase Systems, in Theory, Methods, Uses and Applications to Biotechnology. Academic Press, Orlando, Florida, 1985.
- [48] J. Persson, L. Nyström, H. Ageland, F. Tjerneld, Biotechnol. Bioeng. 65 (1999) 371.
- [49] F. Tjerneld, S. Berner, A. Cajarville, G. Johansson, Enzyme Microb. Tech. 8 (1986) 417.
- [50] K. Berggren, H.-O. Johansson, F. Tjerneld, J. Chromatogr. A 718 (1995) 67.
- [51] A.L. Nguyen, S. Grothe, J. Luong, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 27 (1988) 341.
- [52] S.K. Sikdar, K.D. Cole, R.M. Stewart, D.C. Szlag, P. Todd, H. Cabezas, Bio-technol. 9 (1991) 252.
- [53] P. Harris, G. Karlström, F. Tjerneld, Bioseparation 2 (1991) 237.
- [54] J. Thömmes, M. Halfar, H. Gieren, S. Curvers, R. Takors, R. Brunschier, M.R. Kula, Biotechnol. Progr. 17 (2001) 503.
- [55] M.A. Eiteman, J.L. Gainer, Biotechnol. Progr. 6 (1990) 479.
- [56] M.R. Kula, K.H. Kroner, H. Hustedt, H. Schutte, Enzyme Eng. 6 (1982)69.
- [57] M.R. Kula, Bioseparation 1 (1990) 181.
- [58] M.J. Boland, P.G.M. Hesselink, N. Papamichael, H. Hustedt, J. Biotechnol. 19 (1991) 19.
- [59] W.L. Hinze, E.A. Pramauro, Crit. Rev. Anal. Chem. 24 (1993) 133.

- [60] T. Minuth, J. Thommes, M.-R. Kula, J. Biotechnol. 38 (1995) 151.
- [61] U. Sivars, F. Tjerneld, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1474 (2000) 133.
- [62] C. Larsson, Partitioning in Aqueous Polymer Two-Phase Systems: A Rapid Method for Separation of Membrane Particles According to their Surface Properties. in Isolation of Membranes and Organelles from Plant Cells. J.L. Hall, A.L. Moore (Editors), Academic Press, London, 1983, p. 277.
- [63] P. Gierow, M. Sommarin, C. Larsson, B. Jergil, Biochem. J. 235 (1986)685.
- [64] L. De Marco, W.B. Morris, K. Mashiter, T.J. Peters, Biomed. Chromatogr. 1 (1986) 12.
- [65] M.T. Muino Blanco, J. Alvaro Cebrian, B. Olde, G. Johansson, J. Chromatogr. 547 (1991) 79.
- [66] P. Askerlund, Plant Physiol. 114 (1997) 999.
- [67] R. Gadjieva, F. Mamedov, P.-Å. Albertsson, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1411 (1999) 92.
- [68] E.M. Levy, S. Zanki, H. Walter, Eur. J. Immunol. 11 (1981) 952.
- [69] J. Mendieta, A. Herraez, P. Sancho, J. Luque, Bioscience Rep. 9 (1989) 541.
- [70] M.T. Perez, A.I. Garcia-Perez, L. Lucas, P.A. Sancho, J. Chromatogr. B Biomed. Appl. 680 (1996) 183.
- [71] P.T. Sharpe, R.M. Sharrard, D.J. Watts, Bioscience Rep. 5 (1985) 121.
- [72] H.E. Åkerlund, B. Andersson, P.-Å. Albertsson, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 449 (1976) 525.
- [73] E. Atta-Asafo-Adjei, R.A. Dilley, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 243 (1985) 660.
- [74] B. Andersson, C. Sundby, P.-Å. Albertsson, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 599 (1980) 391.
- [75] A. Berczi, K.M. Fredlund, I.M. Moller, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 320 (1995) 65.
- [76] C.P. Rochester, P. Kjellbom, B. Andersson, C. Larsson, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 255 (1987) 385.
- [77] L. Wevelsiep, E. Rupping, W. Knogge, Plant Physiol. 101 (1993) 297.

- [78] P.A. Meyerhoff, T.C. Fox, R.L. Travis, R.C. Huffaker, Plant Physiol. 104 (1994) 925.
- [79] K. Yamashita, T. Mimura, K. Shimazaki, Plant Cell Physiol. 44 (2003) 55.
- [80] G.A. Lundberg, M. Sommarin, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1123 (1992) 177.
- [81] A.H. Berglund, M.F. Quartacci, L. Calucci, F. Navari-Izzo, C. Pinzino,C. Liljenberg, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1564 (2002) 466.
- [82] T. Arazi, R. Sunkar, B. Kaplan, H. Fromm, Plant J. 20 (1999) 171.
- [83] A.C. Borstlap, J.A. Schuurmans, Plant Cell Physiol. 41 (2000) 1210.
- [84] C. Lurin, J. Guclu, C. Cheniclet, J.P. Carde, H. Barbier-Brygoo, C. Maurel, Biochem. J. 348 (2000) 291.
- [85] C. Maurel, F. Tacnet, J. Guclu, J. Guern, P. Ripoche, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 94 (1997) 7103.
- [86] P. Piedras, S. Rivas, S. Droge, S. Hillmer, J.D. Jones, Plant J. 21 (2000) 529.
- [87] J.J. Wheeler, W. Gross, H. Assefa, W.F. Boss, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1086 (1991) 310.
- [88] Y. Ito, H. Kaku, N. Shibuya, Plant J. 12 (1997) 347.
- [89] C.D. Faraday, R.M. Spanswick, FEBS Lett. 318 (1993) 313.
- [90] H.L. Zheng, Z.Q. Zhao, C.G. Zhang, J.Z. Feng, Z.L. Ke, M.J. Su, Biometals 13 (2000) 157.
- [91] J. Feldwisch, R. Zettl, F. Hesse, J. Schell, K. Palme, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89 (1992) 475.
- [92] K. Shimogawara, H. Usuda, Anal. Biochem. 212 (1993) 381.
- [93] T.W. Short, P. Reymond, W.R. Briggs, Plant Physiol. 101 (1993) 647.
- [94] A. De Jong, A.C. Borstlap, J. Exp. Bot. 51 (2000) 1663.
- [95] K.S. Dhugga, P.M. Ray, Eur. J. Biochem. 220 (1994) 943.
- [96] M.J. Holden, T.J.J. Crimmins, R.L. Chaney, Plant Physiol. 108 (1995) 1093.
- [97] P. Bagnaresi, B. Basso, P. Pupillo, Planta 202 (1997) 427.
- [98] K. Benabdellah, C. Azcon-Aguilar, N. Ferrol, J. Exp. Bot. 51 (2000) 747.

- [99] D.J. Morre, D.M. Morre, J. Chromatogr. B Biomed. Appl. 743 (2000) 369.
- [100] L. Navazio, P. Mariani, D. Sanders, Plant Physiol. 125 (2001) 2129.
- [101] Y. Takeda, K. Kasamo, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1558 (2002) 14.
- [102] R. Papini, M.I. De Michelis, Plant Physiol. 114 (1997) 857.
- [103] L.J. Thomson, T. Xing, J.L. Hall, L.E. Williams, Plant Physiol. 102 (1993) 553.
- [104] C. Larsson, M. Sommarin, S. Widell, Method Enzymol. 228 (1994) 451.
- [105] J.C. Giddings, Science 260 (1993) 1456.
- [106] C.R. Yonker, K.D. Caldwell, J.C. Giddings, J.L. Van Etten, J. Virol. Methods 11 (1985) 145.
- [107] B.N. Barman, E.R. Ashwood, J.C. Giddings, Anal. Biochem. 212 (1993)35.
- [108] I. Ellinger, H. Klapper, P.J. Courtoy, J.P. Vaerman, R. Fuchs, Electrophoresis 23 (2002) 2117.
- [109] T. Kushimoto, V. Basrur, J. Valencia, J. Matsunaga, W.D. Vieira, V.J. Ferrans, J. Muller, E. Appella, V.J. Hearing, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 98 (2001) 10698.
- [110] G. Kopperschläger, J. Kirchberger, Dye-ligand Affinity Partitioning of Proteins, in Aqueous Two-Phase Systems: Methods and Protocols. R. Hatti-Kaul (Editor), Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, 2000, p. 329.
- [111] G.T. Hermanson, Protein Modification with Activated Polyethylene Glycols. in Bioconjugate Techniques. Academic Press, San Diego, CA, 1996, p. 606.
- [112] B. Grimonprez, G. Johansson, J. Chromatogr. B Biomed. Appl. 680 (1996) 55.
- [113] G.M. Zijlstra, M.J. Michielsen, C.D. De Gooijer, L.A. Van der Pol, J. Tramper, Bioseparation 7 (1998) 117.
- [114] J. Kirchberger, G. Kopperschläger, M.A. Vijayalakshmi, J. Chromatogr. 557 (1991) 325.
- [115] G. Johansson, M. Andersson, J. Chromatogr. 303 (1984) 39.
- [116] G. Johansson, G. Kopperschläger, P.-Å. Albertsson, Eur. J. Biochem.131 (1983) 589.

- [117] M. Singh, W.M. Clark, Biotechnol. Progr. 10 (1994) 503.
- [118] C. Delgado, P. Sancho, J. Mendieta, J. Luque, J. Chromatogr. 594 (1992) 97.
- [119] G. Kopperschläger, G. Birkenmeier, Bioseparation 1 (1990) 235.
- [120] D. Schustolla, W.D. Deckwer, K. Schugerl, H. Hustedt, Bioseparation 3 (1992) 167.
- [121] A. Otto, G. Birkenmeier, J. Chromatogr. 644 (1993) 25.
- [122] E. Laboureau, M.A. Vijayalakshmi, J. Mol. Recognit. 10 (1997) 262.
- [123] H. Goubran Botros, A. Otto, G. Kopperschläger, M.A. Vijayalakshmi, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1074 (1991).
- [124] H. Walter, K.E. Widen, G. Birkenmeier, J. Chromatogr. 641 (1993) 279.
- [125] L.J. Karr, S.G. Shafer, M.J. Harris, J.M. Van Alstine, R.S. Snyder, J. Chromatogr. 354 (1986) 269.
- [126] K.A. Sharp, M. Yalpani, S.J. Howard, D.E. Brooks, Anal. Biochem. 154 (1986) 110.
- [127] S.J. Stocks, D.E. Brooks, Anal. Biochem. 173 (1988) 86.
- [128] L.J. Karr, J.M. Van Alstine, R.S. Snyder, S.G. Shafer, M.J. Harris, J. Chromatogr. 442 (1988) 219.
- [129] C. Delgado, R.J. Anderson, G.E. Francis, D. Fisher, Anal. Biochem.192 (1991) 322.
- [130] L.-O. Persson, B. Olde, J. Chromatogr. 457 (1988) 183.
- [131] G.T. Hermanson, Protein Modification with Activated Dextrans. in Bioconjugate Techniques. Academic Press, San Diego, CA, 1996, p. 618.
- [132] G. Johansson, M. Joelsson, J. Chromatogr. 393 (1987) 195.
- [133] G. Johansson, M. Joelsson, J. Chromatogr. 411 (1987) 161.
- [134] L. Ekblad, B. Jergil, P. Gierow, J. Chromatogr. B Biomed. Sci. Appl. 743 (2000) 397.
- [135] A. Persson, B. Johansson, H. Olsson, B. Jergil, Biochem. J. 273 (1991) 173.
- [136] G. Kopperschlager, J. Kirchberger, Dye-ligand Affinity Partitioning of Proteins. in Aqueous Two-Phase Systems: Methods and Protocols. R. Hatti-Kaul (Editor), Humana Press Inc., Totowa, NJ, 2000, p. 329.

- [137] H. Fricke, Physical Rev. 26 (1925) 682.
- [138] E. Gorter, F. Grendel, J. Exp. Med. 41 (1925) 439.
- [139] J.F. Danielli, H. Davson, J. Cell. Comp. Physiol. 5 (1935) 495.
- [140] S.J. Singer, G.L. Nicholson, Science 175 (1972) 720.
- [141] G. Vereb, J. Szollosi, J. Matko, P. Nagy, T. Farkas, L. Vigh, L. Matyus, T.A. Waldmann, S. Damjanovich, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 100 (2003) 80.
- [142] T. Fujiwara, K. Ritchie, H. Murakoshi, K. Jacobson, A. Kusumi, J. Cell Biol. 157 (2002) 1071.
- [143] H.R. Petty, Molecular Biology of Membranes: Structure and Function., Plenum Press, New York, 1993.
- [144] P.-Å. Albertsson, Trends Plant Sci. 6 (2001) 349.
- [145] W.R. Loewenstein, Cell 48 (1987) 725.
- [146] K. Ishidate, E.S. Creeger, J. Zrike, S. Deb, B. Glauner, T.J. MacAlister,L.I. Rothfield, J. Biol. Chem. 261 (1986) 428.
- [147] C.J. Fielding, P.E. Fielding, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1610 (2003) 219.
- [148] A. Amar-Costesec, J.A. Todd, G. Kreibich, J. Cell Biol. 99 (1984) 2247.
- [149] L.C. Eriksson, A. Bergstrand, G. Dallner, Cell Tissue Res. 179 (1977)17.
- [150] P. Gierow, B. Jergil, Biochem. J. 262 (1989) 55.
- [151] H. Komatsu, S. Okada, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1283 (1996) 73.
- [152] S.I. Hakomori, Glycoconj. J. 17 (2000) 143.
- [153] M. Muniz, H. Riezman, EMBO J. 19 (2000) 10.
- [154] E.J. Smart, G.A. Graf, M.A. McNiven, W.C. Sessa, J.A. Engelman, P.E. Scherer, T. Okamoto, M.P. Lisanti, Mol. Cell Biol. 19 (1999) 7289.
- [155] M.D. Marmor, M. Julius, Blood 98 (2001) 1489.
- [156] Z. Lou, D.D. Billadeau, D.N. Savoy, R.A. Schoon, P.J. Leibson, J. Immunol. 167 (2001) 5749.
- [157] S. Mayor, K.G. Rothberg, F.R. Maxfield, Science 264 (1994) 1948.
- [158] K. Iwabuchi, K. Handa, S. Hakomori, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (1998) 33766.
- [159] C. Dietrich, B. Yang, T. Fujiwara, A. Kusumi, K. Jacobson, Biophys. J. 82 (2002) 272.
- [160] E. Kondorosi, E. Duda, FEBS Lett. 120 (1980) 37.

- [161] K. Serre, P. Machy, J.C. Grivel, G. Jolly, N. Brun, J. Barbet, L. Leserman, J. Immunol. 161 (1998) 6059.
- [162] C.K. Kim, S.J. Lim, Arch. Pharm. Res. 25 (2002) 229.
- [163] H.S. Nelson, J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 111 (2003) S793.
- [164] R.R.C. New (D. Rickwood, B.D. Hames), Liposomes: A Practical Approach., in The Practical Approach Series. Oxford University Press Inc., New York, 1989.
- [165] M.N. Jones, D. Chapman, Micelles, Monolayers, and Biomembranes., Wiley-Liss, Inc., New York, 1995.
- [166] M. Wilchek, E.A. Bayer, Avidin-Biotin Technology, Academic Press, San Diego, 1990.
- [167] Y. Hiller, J.M. Gershoni, E.A. Bayer, M. Wilchek, Biochem. J. 248 (1987) 167.
- [168] L. Ekblad, J. Kernbichler, B. Jergil, J. Chromatogr. A 815 (1998) 189.
- [169] O. Livnah, E.A. Bayer, M. Wilchek, J.L. Sussman, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90 (1993) 5076.
- [170] J.N. Israelachvili, Intermolecular and Surface Forces., Academic Press, 1992.
- [171] S.D. Flanagan, P. Taylor, S.H. Barondes, Nature 254 (1975) 441.
- [172] A. Persson, B. Jergil, Anal. Biochem. 204 (1992) 131.
- [173] A. Persson, B. Jergil, FASEB J. 9 (1995) 1304.
- [174] S. Santesson, M. Andersson, E. Degerman, T. Johansson, J. Nilsson,S. Nilsson, Anal. Chem. 72 (2000) 3412.
- [175] S. Santesson, E.S. Cedergren-Zeppezauer, T. Johansson, T. Laurell, J. Nilsson, S. Nilsson, Anal. Chem. 75 (2003) 1733.
- [176] S. Santesson, J. Johansson, L.S. Taylor, I. Levander, S. Fox, M. Sepaniak, S. Nilsson, Anal. Chem. 75 (2003) 2177.
- [177] P. Abedinpour, B. Jergil, Anal. Biochem. 313 (2003) 1.